

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
HOUSTON DIVISION

SEALED
United States Courts
Southern District of Texas
FILED

JUL - 7 2004

DD

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§
§

v.

Cr. No. H-04-25 (S-2)

Michael N. Milby, Clerk

RICHARD A. CAUSEY,
JEFFREY K. SKILLING, and
KENNETH L. LAY,

Defendants.

Violations: 15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b), 78m(a),
78m(b)(2) and 78ff; 18 U.S.C. §§ 371,
1014, 1343, 1344, 1956(a)(1)(A)(i),
1956(a)(1)(B)(i), 1956(h), 2, and 3551
et seq.; 17 C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5
and 240.13b2-2.

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT

The Grand Jury charges:

INTRODUCTION

At all times relevant to this Indictment:

1. Enron Corp. ("Enron") was an Oregon corporation with its headquarters in Houston, Texas. Among other businesses, Enron was engaged in the purchase and sale of natural gas and power, construction and ownership of pipelines, power facilities and energy-related businesses, provision of telecommunications services, and trading in contracts to buy and sell various commodities. Before it filed for bankruptcy on December 2, 2001, Enron was the seventh largest corporation in the United States.

2. Enron was a publicly traded company whose shares were listed on the New York Stock Exchange and were bought, held, and sold by individuals and entities throughout the United States and the world. Enron and its directors, officers, and employees were required to comply with regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). Those regulations protect members of the investing public by, among other things, requiring that

a company's financial information is fully and accurately recorded and fairly presented to the public. The regulations require, among other things, that a company submit filings to the SEC in Washington, D.C. that include fair and accurate financial statements and management discussion and analysis of a company's business.

3. The price of Enron's stock was influenced by factors such as Enron's reported revenue, earnings, debt, cash flow, and credit rating, as well as its growth potential and consistent ability to meet revenue and earnings targets and forecasts. Enron executives provided guidance to the investing public regarding anticipated revenue, earnings for upcoming reporting periods, and other information regarding Enron's business activity. Such guidance was communicated in presentations and conference calls to securities analysts and in other public statements by Enron executives. Relying in part on the company's guidance, securities analysts disseminated to the public their own estimates of the company's expected performance. These earnings estimates, or analysts' expectations, were closely followed by investors. Typically, if a company announced earnings that failed to meet or exceed analysts' expectations, the price of the company's stock declined.

4. It was also critical to Enron's ongoing business operations that it maintain an investment grade rating for its debt, which was rated by national credit rating agencies. An investment grade rating was essential to Enron's ability to enter into trading contracts with its counterparties and to maintain sufficient lines of credit with major banks. In order to maintain an investment grade rating, Enron executives were required to demonstrate that its financial condition was stable and that the risk that Enron would not repay its debts and other financial obligations was low. The credit rating agencies relied on, among other things, Enron's public

filings, including its financial statements filed with the SEC, in rating Enron's debt. In addition, members of Enron's senior management spoke regularly with, and provided financial and other information to, representatives of credit rating agencies. Two primary factors influencing Enron's credit rating and the willingness of banks to extend loans to Enron were Enron's total amount of debt and other obligations and its cash flow.

PRINCIPAL CONSPIRATORS AND THEIR ROLES AT ENRON

5. As detailed below, defendants KENNETH L. LAY ("LAY"), JEFFREY K. SKILLING ("SKILLING"), and RICHARD A. CAUSEY ("CAUSEY"), and their conspirators, engaged in a wide-ranging scheme to deceive the investing public, including Enron's shareholders, the SEC, and others (the "Victims"), about the true performance of Enron's businesses by: (a) manipulating Enron's publicly reported financial results; and (b) making public statements and representations about Enron's financial performance and results that were false and misleading in that they did not fairly and accurately reflect Enron's actual financial condition and performance, and they omitted to disclose facts necessary to make those statements and representations fair and accurate.

6. LAY was named Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chairman of the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Enron upon its formation in 1986. LAY held both of these positions until February 2001, when he stepped down as CEO and continued as Chairman, and SKILLING became the CEO. On August 14, 2001, SKILLING abruptly resigned from Enron and LAY resumed his position as Enron's CEO and remained Chairman.

7. SKILLING was employed by or acted as a consultant to Enron from at least the late 1980s through early December 2001. In August 1990, Enron hired SKILLING. SKILLING

held various executive and management positions at Enron and in January 1997, Enron promoted SKILLING to President and Chief Operating Officer ("COO") of the company. SKILLING then reported directly to LAY. In February 2001, SKILLING was named President and CEO of Enron. He resigned in August 2001.

8. CAUSEY was a certified public accountant and an employee of Enron from 1991 through early 2002. From 1986 to 1991, while employed by the accounting firm Arthur Andersen LLP ("Andersen"), CAUSEY provided audit services to Enron on behalf of Andersen, which served as Enron's outside auditor. In 1991, Enron hired CAUSEY as Assistant Controller of Enron Gas Services Group. From 1992 to 1997, CAUSEY served in various executive positions at Enron. In 1998, CAUSEY became Enron's Chief Accounting Officer ("CAO").

9. LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY oversaw the operations of Enron's numerous business units. As CEO, LAY and SKILLING were responsible for supervising the activities of each of Enron's business units and the heads of those business units, as well as the activities of the senior Enron managers who conducted the company's financial and accounting activities. LAY and SKILLING held weekly management meetings with the leaders of Enron's business units to review, among other things, the company's budget and operating performance.

10. LAY and SKILLING also routinely provided guidance and information concerning the company's performance to securities analysts, as well as to Enron's employees and the public. Indeed, LAY and SKILLING served as Enron's principal spokespersons with the investing public. LAY and SKILLING reviewed and approved proposed press releases concerning Enron, and they signed Enron's annual reports filed on Form 10-K with the SEC. SKILLING signed Enron's quarterly and annual representation letters to its auditors.

11. As Chairman, LAY was responsible for presiding over meetings of the Board and assisting in developing the agenda for Board meetings. Among other things, the Board periodically reviewed Enron's operations, financial results, proposed transactions and executive compensation. LAY and SKILLING also attended meetings of the Board's committees, including the Finance Committee and the Audit and Compliance Committee. According to its charter, the Finance Committee served as a "monitor for the Company's financial activities" and reviewed and approved the company's significant financings, debt levels, and performance of portfolio assets, among other things.

12. As Enron's CAO, CAUSEY managed Enron's accounting practices. CAUSEY reported to LAY and SKILLING. Together with LAY, SKILLING, Enron's Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") Andrew S. Fastow, its Treasurer Ben F. Glisan, Jr., and others, CAUSEY was a principal manager of Enron's finances. CAUSEY was also a principal manager of Enron's disclosures and representations to the investing public. He routinely participated in discussions with securities analysts and in other communications in which Enron provided the public with guidance concerning the company's performance. CAUSEY signed Enron's annual reports filed with the SEC on Form 10-K and its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and he signed quarterly and annual representation letters to Enron's auditors.

13. LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY had numerous conspirators, including, but not limited to: Fastow, who supervised such matters as Enron's structured finance, cash flow, and debt management activities; Glisan, who also assisted in supervising Enron's structured finance, cash flow and debt management activities; David W. Delainey, the CEO of two Enron business units -- Enron North America ("ENA") and Enron Energy Services ("EES") -- who supervised

large portions of Enron's wholesale energy business and, later, its retail energy business; Wesley Colwell, the CAO of ENA, who managed the accounting for Enron's wholesale energy business; Michael Kopper, a Managing Director in Enron's Global Finance group, who conducted structured finance activities for Enron and assisted in running important Enron off-balance sheet vehicles; as well as others.

Defendants' Profit as a Result of the Scheme

14. LAY, SKILLING, CAUSEY and their conspirators enriched themselves as a result of the scheme through salary, bonuses, grants of stock and stock options, other profits, and prestige within their professions and communities.

15. Between 1998 and 2001, SKILLING received approximately \$200 million from the sale of Enron stock options and restricted stock, netting over \$89 million in profit, and was paid more than \$14 million in salary and bonuses.

16. Between 1998 and 2001, LAY received approximately \$300 million from the sale of Enron stock options and restricted stock, netting over \$217 million in profit, and was paid more than \$19 million in salary and bonuses. During 2001 alone, LAY received a salary of over \$1 million, a bonus of \$7 million and \$3.6 million in long term incentive payments. Additionally, during the period of August 21 through October 26, 2001, LAY sold approximately 918,104 shares of Enron stock to repay advances totaling \$26,025,000 he had received from a line of credit extended to LAY by Enron.

17. Between 1998 and 2001, CAUSEY received more than \$14 million from the sale of Enron stock and stock options, netting over \$5 million in profit, and was paid more than \$4 million in salary and bonuses.

OVERVIEW OF THE DEFENDANTS' SCHEME TO DEFRAUD

18. LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY were among the principal operators of the scheme, which SKILLING spearheaded until his sudden departure in August 2001, at which point LAY took over leadership of the conspiracy. Due to the efforts of LAY, SKILLING, CAUSEY and their conspirators, the financial appearance of Enron presented to the investing public concealed the true state of Enron. Enron's publicly reported financial results and filings and its public descriptions of itself, including in public statements made by and with the knowledge of LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY, did not truthfully present Enron's financial position, results from operations, and cash flow of the company and omitted facts necessary to make the disclosures and statements that were made truthful and not misleading. The misleading portrayal of Enron's financial condition supported Enron's stock price and its credit rating.

19. The conspiracy's objectives included:

- reporting recurring earnings that falsely appeared to grow smoothly by approximately 15 to 20 percent annually and thus create the illusion that Enron met or exceeded the published expectations of securities analysts forecasting Enron's reported earnings-per-share and other results;
- touting falsely the success of Enron's business units;
- concealing large losses, "write-downs," and other negative information concerning its business units;
- masking the true magnitude of debt and other obligations required to keep the company's varied and often unsuccessful business ventures afloat;
- deceiving credit rating agencies in order to maintain an investment-grade credit

rating; and

- artificially inflating the share price of Enron's stock, including attempting to stem the decline of Enron's share price in 2001.

20. SKILLING and CAUSEY set and monitored annual and quarterly earnings and cash flow targets ("budget targets") for the company as a whole and for each of Enron's business units. SKILLING and CAUSEY set the budget targets by determining the numbers necessary for each Enron business unit to report in order to meet Enron's artificial mandates for growth and analysts' expectations, rather than by determining the earnings and cash flow that a particular business unit could be expected to generate. On a quarterly and year-end basis, they assessed Enron's progress toward its budget targets. When the budget targets were not met through actual results from business operations, the desired budget targets were achieved by conspirators through the use of various earnings and cash flow "levers" described in this Indictment. These levers were designed to manipulate Enron's finances and prop up its stock price by, among other things, filling earnings and cash flow shortfalls that were at times in the hundreds of millions of dollars. These shortfalls were referred to within Enron variously as the "gap," "stretch" or "overview."

21. For a significant time, the scheme to support artificially the share price of Enron's stock succeeded. In early 1998, Enron's stock traded at approximately \$30 per share. By January 2001, even after a 1999 stock split, Enron's stock had risen to over \$80 per share and Enron was ranked the seventh-largest company in the United States, according to the leading index of the "Fortune 500." Until the scheme unraveled in late 2001, Enron maintained an investment grade credit rating.

The Third and Fourth Quarters of 2001

22. On August 14, 2001, SKILLING resigned from Enron, according to SKILLING and LAY, for personal reasons. Enron's stock price, which had been declining since January 2001, fell sharply. LAY resumed his position as CEO of the company, intensified his oversight of Enron's day-to-day operations, and took control of the conspiracy. For a time, the conspirators were able to forestall even greater declines in the price of Enron stock by various levers, until mid-October when the scheme started to unravel and Enron ultimately filed for bankruptcy.

23. During the last two weeks of August 2001 and the first week of September 2001, LAY was briefed by numerous Enron employees on Enron's mounting and undisclosed financial and operational problems, including several billion dollars of losses embedded in Enron's assets and business units. As a result of these and other issues confronting Enron, LAY and CAUSEY privately considered a range of potential solutions, including mergers, restructurings, and even divestiture of Enron's pipelines, assets that LAY considered to be the crown jewels of the company.

24. Throughout the remainder of September 2001, LAY, CAUSEY and their conspirators engaged in a series of high-level meetings to discuss the growing financial crisis at Enron and the likely impact on Enron's credit rating. Among other things, as LAY and CAUSEY knew, the total amount of losses embedded in Enron's assets and business units was, at a minimum, \$7 billion. LAY and CAUSEY also learned that Enron's auditors had changed their position concerning the accounting treatment of four off-balance sheet vehicles called the Raptors, which required Enron to determine in short order whether an acceptable alternative methodology existed or whether, instead, Enron would have to restate its earnings and admit the

error.

25. In the weeks leading up to Enron's third quarter earnings release on October 16, 2001, LAY and CAUSEY determined that Enron could not publicly report a loss in excess of \$1 billion without triggering negative action by Enron's credit rating agencies. LAY and CAUSEY thus artificially capped Enron's losses at that amount, by among other things, manipulating accounting standards in order to conceal additional write-downs. On October 16, 2001, when Enron announced losses of approximately \$1 billion, LAY and CAUSEY sought to minimize the import of the reported losses and continued to make false and misleading statements to the market about Enron's financial health.

26. From this juncture, the scheme rapidly unraveled. On October 22, 2001, Enron announced that it was the subject of an SEC investigation. By October 23, 2001, LAY had authorized Enron to enter into merger discussions with its far smaller rival, Dynegy Inc. ("Dynegy"). On October 25, 2001, LAY authorized Enron to use the remaining \$3 billion from its corporate lines of credit. On October 29 and November 1, 2001, the two leading credit rating agencies downgraded Enron's credit rating. On November 8, 2001, Enron announced its intention to restate its publicly reported financial statements for 1997 through 2000 and the first and second quarters of 2001 to reduce previously reported net income by an aggregate of \$586 million. The next day, Enron and Dynegy announced a merger agreement. On November 28, 2001, Enron's credit rating was further downgraded to "junk" status and Dynegy announced its withdrawal from the merger agreement. And on December 2, 2001, Enron filed for bankruptcy, making its stock, which less than a year earlier had been trading at over \$80 per share, virtually worthless.

DEVICES EMPLOYED IN FURTHERANCE OF SCHEME

27. At various times, LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY and their conspirators presented Enron's financial results, which had been engineered to appear far more successful than they actually were, in a false and misleading manner to the investing public through, among other things, conferences with securities analysts and rating agencies, press releases, media statements, and SEC filings.

28. LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY used and caused to be used secret oral side-deals, back-dated documents, disguised debt, material omissions, and outright false statements to further the scheme. Specifically, each at various times during the conspiracy employed one or more of the following devices in furtherance of the fraudulent scheme:

- structuring financial transactions in a misleading manner in order to achieve earnings and cash flow objectives, avoid booking large losses in asset values, and conceal debt, including through the fraudulent use of purported third-party entities that in fact were not independent from Enron;
- manufacturing earnings and artificially improving Enron's balance sheet through fraudulent overvaluation of assets;
- fraudulently circumventing accounting standards applicable to the sale of financial assets in order to conceal the amount of Enron's debt and to create the false appearance of greater earnings and cash flow;
- concealing large losses and failures in Enron's two highly-touted new businesses, Enron Broadband Services ("EBS") and EES;
- manipulating earnings through fraudulent use of reserve accounts to mask

volatility in Enron's wholesale energy trading earnings and use those reserves later in order to appear to achieve budget targets;

- fraudulently circumventing accounting standards applicable to the disclosure and recognition of impairments to goodwill; and
- making false and misleading statements, and omissions of facts necessary to make statements not misleading, about Enron's financial condition.

A. Use of Special Purpose Entities and LJM Partnership to Manipulate Financial Results

29. Special Purpose Entities: With SKILLING's and CAUSEY's approval, conspirators created and used Special Purpose Entities ("SPEs") to ensure that Enron met financial reporting targets. SPEs were used to achieve "off-balance-sheet" accounting treatment of assets and business activities so that Enron could present itself more attractively as measured by criteria favored by securities analysts, credit rating agencies, and others. Under applicable accounting rules, an SPE could be considered separate from Enron if the SPE included at least a 3%, at risk, equity investment from a true third party that was not under Enron's control. If these conditions were satisfied, Enron could record the earnings and cash flow from a deal with the SPE, but would not have to record liabilities such as the SPE's debt on its own balance sheet.

30. Creation of LJM Partnership: In June 1999, in order to have a purportedly independent third party available to provide this outside equity funding so that Enron could more easily create and use SPEs to achieve its desired financial reporting results, SKILLING and CAUSEY sought and obtained the approval of the Board for Fastow to create and serve as the managing partner of an investment partnership named LJM Cayman, L.P., that would invest in SPEs with Enron. The Board later approved Fastow's participation in an even larger entity used

to fund SPEs by Enron, LJM2 (the LJM entities are collectively referred to as "LJM"). LJM's business activity principally involved transactions with Enron and Enron affiliates.

31. As SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, LJM was not a true third party acting independently from Enron. Instead, LJM was controlled by Fastow acting simultaneously in his capacity both as Enron's CFO and as the general partner in LJM. SKILLING, CAUSEY and Fastow then exploited this dual role as a means to ensure that LJM did not act as a true third party investor, but rather as Enron's surrogate to achieve its financial reporting objectives and as a means for Fastow and others to be heavily compensated for contributing to the appearance of Enron's success.

32. From approximately July 1999 through October 2001, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused Enron to enter into a series of transactions with LJM that defrauded the Victims. The transactions with LJM enabled the conspirators, among other things: (a) to manipulate Enron's reported financial results by fraudulently omitting poorly performing assets from Enron's balance sheet, when in fact such off-balance-sheet treatment was improper; (b) to conceal Enron's poor operating performance by engaging in transactions designed to close gaps between Enron's actual business results and its stated financial reporting goals; (c) to manufacture earnings through sham transactions when Enron was having trouble meeting its goals for a quarter or year; and (d) to inflate improperly the value of Enron's investment portfolio by backdating documents.

33. "Raptor" Hedges: Beginning in the spring of 2000, Enron and LJM engaged in a series of financial transactions called Raptor I, Raptor II, Raptor III and Raptor IV (collectively referred to as the "Raptors"). SKILLING and CAUSEY used the Raptors to manipulate fraudulently Enron's reported financial results. They designed and approved Raptor I to protect

Enron from having to report publicly decreases in value in large portions of its merchant asset portfolio and investments by hedging their value with an allegedly independent SPE created by Enron and LJM, known as Talon.

34. As SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, however, the Raptor I structure could not properly be excluded from Enron's financial statements, because Talon was not independent from Enron, and LJM's investment in Talon was not sufficiently at risk to qualify as outside equity. With SKILLING's approval, CAUSEY and Fastow entered into a secret oral side-deal that LJM would receive its \$30 million investment back plus a substantial profit, prior to Talon engaging in any of the transactions for which it was created. In return, Enron could use Raptor I to manipulate Enron's balance sheet, including by allowing Enron, without negotiation or due diligence on behalf of LJM, to select the values at which the Enron assets were hedged with Talon.

35. In order to conceal the true reason for the payment from Enron to LJM, CAUSEY satisfied the oral side-deal by causing the manufacture of a separate transaction between Enron and Talon that had no legitimate business purpose and was undertaken solely to generate a \$41 million payment to LJM. After providing LJM with this payment, Enron used Raptor I to hedge the value of Enron's assets. CAUSEY further used Raptor I fraudulently to promote Enron's financial position by back-dating a hedge of Avici stock – a company in which Enron held a significant stock position – to a date prior to the significant decline of the Avici stock price. With SKILLING's and CAUSEY's knowledge and approval, the basic structure used in Raptor I, including the secret oral side-deal, was repeated in Raptors II, III and IV.

36. Manufacturing Earnings and Concealing Debt through Purported Sales to LJM: SKILLING and CAUSEY used LJM to enter into other transactions in order to achieve purported asset sales to generate earnings and cash flow and move poorly performing assets off Enron's balance sheet. SKILLING and CAUSEY made secret side-deals that guaranteed LJM against equity risk in various transactions with Enron.

37. Cuiaba. One such transaction involved LJM's "purchase" of Enron's interest in a company that was building a power plant in Cuiaba, Brazil (the "Cuiaba project"). On or about September 30, 1999, when no true third-party buyer could be found, Enron "sold" a portion of its interest in the Cuiaba project to LJM. LJM agreed to "buy" this interest only because, as SKILLING knew, CAUSEY in a secret side-deal agreed that Enron would buy back the interest, if necessary, at a profit to LJM. Based on this purported sale, which was known amongst various conspirators as a "parking" or "warehousing" arrangement, Enron recognized approximately \$65 million in income in the third and fourth quarters of 1999, when it was straining to meet budget targets.

38. By 2001, the Cuiaba project was approximately \$200 million over budget. Nonetheless, in the spring of 2001, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused Enron to buy back LJM's interest in the Cuiaba project at a considerable profit to LJM, in fulfillment of the side-deal. So as to conceal the role of Fastow and LJM in the Cuiaba repurchase, SKILLING and CAUSEY decided not to announce the deal until Fastow sold his interest in LJM. Consequently, they caused Enron improperly to fail to disclose in its second quarter 2001 financial report the agreement to repurchase. The Cuiaba repurchase was effectuated just weeks after the second quarter report.

39. Nigerian Barges. In the fourth quarter 1999, SKILLING and CAUSEY pushed through several end-of-the-year transactions that were designed solely to achieve budget targets at a time when Enron was struggling to produce earnings sufficient to ensure that Enron met analysts' expectations and Enron's predictions for earnings growth. One such transaction was a "sale" by Enron to Merrill Lynch & Co. ("Merrill Lynch") of an interest in electricity-generating power barges moored off the coast of Nigeria. When Enron was unable to find a true buyer for the barges by December 1999, conspirators parked the barges with Merrill Lynch so that Enron could record \$12 million in earnings and \$28 million in cash flow needed to meet 1999 budget targets.

40. As SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, Merrill Lynch entered into the Nigerian barges transaction based on a promise in a secret oral side-deal that Merrill Lynch would receive a return of its investment plus an agreed-upon profit within six months. As SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, the oral side-deal was concealed from Enron's auditors and the public. Because of the side-deal, Merrill Lynch's supposed equity investment was not sufficiently "at risk" under accounting rules to allow Enron to treat the transaction as a sale from which it could record earnings and cash flow. In June 2000, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, conspirators caused Enron to deliver on the side-deal to Merrill Lynch by producing LJM as a buyer for the Nigerian barges, while secretly promising to take LJM out of the Nigerian barge deal at a profit plus a large fee.

41. Coyote Springs II. In or about March 2000, Avista Power, LLC ("Avista") agreed to purchase for approximately \$59.5 million a portion of Enron's interests in a turbine, land, and a facility construction contract (collectively referred to as "Coyote Springs II"). In order to

recognize earnings immediately with respect to the turbine sale, Enron personnel sought to sell the turbine separately from the remainder of the package. However, Enron's auditors required a two-week separation between the sale of the turbine and the sale of the land and contract interests, in order to demonstrate that the sales were independent of each other. Avista, however, sought to buy the whole package and was concerned about the risk that it would purchase the turbine, and then not be able two weeks later to effectuate the purchase of the remainder of the package. To satisfy Avista, Enron personnel arranged for a contract (referred to as a "put") permitting Avista to require a third party to buy the turbine from Avista if, at the end of the requisite two-week period, the remainder of the sale did not go through.

42. On or about July 7, 2000, Enron and Avista entered into the agreement for Avista to purchase the turbine interest. As CAUSEY knew, LJM and Avista simultaneously entered into a put option agreement, which Enron personnel hid from Enron's auditors, in which Avista agreed to pay LJM approximately \$3.54 million for an option to require LJM to purchase the turbine interest. Also on or about July 7, Enron paid LJM approximately \$3.54 million for the put premium. As CAUSEY knew, LJM and Enron executives agreed in a side-deal that LJM would refund \$3.192 million of the put premium once the put expired unexercised at the end of the two-week period. As CAUSEY also knew, the put agreement between Avista and LJM, and the agreement between Enron and LJM to refund part of the put payment, were improperly hidden from Enron's auditors and the public.

43. Global Galactic. By approximately July 2000, a range of secret side-deals were pending between Enron and LJM. As a result, in or about and between July 2000 and September 2000, CAUSEY and Fastow resolved on a comprehensive basis the timing and means of

fulfilling the illegal side-deals. The agreement was then memorialized in writing and initialed by CAUSEY and Fastow, and was termed by them the "Global Galactic" agreement. Among other things, CAUSEY and Fastow reaffirmed the side-deals between Enron and LJM concerning the Nigerian barges and Cuiaba. In addition, CAUSEY and Fastow agreed that the "put" in Raptor I would be backdated to August 3, 2000, and that of the \$41 million to be paid by Enron to LJM as part of the Raptor I deal, approximately \$6 million would be "re-invested" by LJM in a Raptor vehicle in order to appear to increase the vehicle's alleged outside equity. Approximately \$3.1 million of this \$6 million "investment" constituted the secret agreed-upon Coyote Springs II refund from LJM to Enron. CAUSEY disguised the Coyote Springs II refund as part of the supposed \$6 million LJM "investment" in the Raptor vehicle so as to conceal the improper Coyote Springs II side-deal.

B. Manufacturing Earnings by Fraudulently Manipulating Asset Values

44. CAUSEY generated earnings needed to meet targets by artificially increasing the book value of certain assets in Enron's portfolio. This portfolio included interests in many energy-related businesses that were not publicly traded and, therefore, were valued by Enron according to its own internal valuation models. CAUSEY manipulated these models in order to produce results desired to meet earnings targets. For example, in the fourth quarter of 2000, CAUSEY caused Enron fraudulently to increase the value of one of Enron's largest assets, Mariner Energy, by \$100 million in order to help close a budget shortfall.

C. Fraudulently Circumventing Accounting Standards Regarding Sale of Financial Assets

45. CAUSEY caused Enron to circumvent fraudulently accounting standards with

respect to the sale of financial assets. Under Financial Accounting Standards 125 and 140, Enron “sold” assets to various SPEs it had established with various financial institutions (“FAS transactions”). Through FAS transactions, CAUSEY caused Enron to remove assets from its balance sheet and generate income and cash flow, while at the same time Enron retained control over the assets. From 1999 through 2001, Enron used FAS transactions to keep more than \$1 billion of debt off its balance sheets and generate more than \$350 million in earnings and cash flow.

46. As CAUSEY knew, Enron executives provided the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce (“CIBC”) with a secret oral promise that it would not lose its three percent purported equity in a vehicle known as “Hawaii 125-0,” which was used by Enron repeatedly to move assets off-balance sheet and record earnings. As CAUSEY knew, this oral commitment violated the accounting rules because CIBC’s “equity” was not sufficiently at risk to qualify the vehicle as separate from Enron.

D. Concealing EES Failures

47. In presentations to the investing public, LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY at various times during the conspiracy emphasized the performance and potential of EES as a major reason for past and projected increases in the value of Enron’s stock. In order to enable EES to appear successful, conspirators concealed EES’ massive losses by fraudulently manipulating Enron’s “business segment reporting.”

48. As LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY knew, in the first quarter of 2001, Enron executives manipulated EES’s financial position through a reorganization designed to conceal the existence and magnitude of EES’s business failure. Large portions of EES’s business –

which otherwise would have to report hundreds of millions of dollars in losses – were moved into another Enron business unit, Enron Wholesale. Enron Wholesale was capable of hiding these losses because it housed most of the company's wholesale energy trading profits. In spite of their knowledge of this maneuver, at various times LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY claimed publicly that EES was continuing to perform successfully and as expected.

E. Promoting EBS to Manufacture Earnings and Concealing Failure of EBS

49. "Rollout" of EBS: Beginning in 1999, SKILLING sought artificially to support and inflate Enron's stock price by falsely claiming that Enron's earnings and future prospects were supported to a substantial extent by its telecommunications business unit, EBS. At that time, stocks of technology sector companies, commonly known as "dot-coms," generally traded at a significant premium on public securities markets. A centerpiece of this strategy to promote EBS as a major factor in Enron's earnings and share value was a dramatic presentation by SKILLING and other Enron executives about EBS on January 20, 2000, to securities analysts.

50. "Project Grayhawk": Knowing that the January 20, 2000, conference was designed to, and likely would, cause an immediate increase in Enron's stock price, SKILLING and CAUSEY approved a scheme to allow Enron to record and report as earnings from operations \$85 million of what in reality was just the increase in Enron's share price caused by the conference. Enron recorded earnings from a partnership interest it held in a vehicle named JEDI, which held Enron stock. Thus, when Enron's stock price rose, the value of JEDI rose. JEDI had hedged its Enron stock through a transaction that fixed the value of its Enron stock at a set price. Just before the January 20, 2000 conference, in a project known as "Grayhawk," as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, Enron executives temporarily removed the fixed hedge and

replaced it with one that did not limit the upside gain to JEDI from increases in the value of Enron stock. After the conference, the fixed hedge was then reinstated at Enron's new higher share price. The purpose and effect of temporarily removing the fixed hedge was to enable Enron to capture and record as earnings the increased value of JEDI from the dramatic increase in Enron's stock price as a result of its January 20, 2000, analyst conference. SKILLING and CAUSEY caused Enron to report improperly and describe publicly this gain as recurring operating income in its energy business. Enron did not disclose to the investing public the manipulative manner in which income had been recognized from the appreciation of its own stock.

51. January 20, 2000, Analyst Conference: At the January 20, 2000, conference, SKILLING knowingly made false and misleading statements about EBS. SKILLING stated, among other things, that: EBS "has already established the superior broadband delivery network"; EBS has "built this network . . . and we are turning on the switch"; the critical "network control software" was in Enron's possession and incorporated and used in its network; and Enron valued the business at \$30 billion, which SKILLING called a "conservative" valuation. In fact, EBS had neither the claimed broadband network in place, nor the critical proprietary network control software to run it. The claims about EBS remained only unproven concepts and laboratory demonstrations that SKILLING was advised would take years to complete and might never be realized. In addition, as SKILLING knew, the valuation of the business was inflated by billions of dollars over what internal and external valuations determined might be supportable.

52. First Quarter 2000 Earnings: The plan to boost Enron's stock price by aggressively touting EBS and to record earnings from that boost succeeded. On January 11, 2000, the date on which Enron executives removed the hedge on the Enron stock in JEDI as part of "Project Grayhawk," Enron stock traded at approximately \$47 per share. After the conference on January 20, 2000, Enron stock rose to approximately \$67 per share. The "Project Grayhawk" maneuver allowed Enron to recognize, through JEDI, approximately \$85 million in earnings as a result of the manufactured bounce in the stock from the false and misleading presentation to analysts about EBS.

53. Concealment of EBS Failure: By late 2000, SKILLING and CAUSEY knew that EBS was a struggling business that was losing far larger than expected amounts of money. They took steps to ensure that EBS's public financial results did not reflect the extent of its problems. For example, during 2000, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, conspirators authorized misleading, one-time, financial transactions, known as Project Braveheart and Backbone Trust, which manufactured earnings that Enron executives used to create the false impression that EBS would generate operating profits. Even with these transactions, EBS still faced larger than expected losses during the first quarter 2001. In order to ensure that EBS did not record losses that exceeded Enron's annual budgeted loss target for EBS, and in order to ensure that the quarterly budgeted loss target for the first quarter 2001 was met, CAUSEY reduced EBS's expenses and costs for the first quarter of 2001 by shifting numerous EBS costs off EBS's books, changing the depreciable life of certain of EBS' assets from five to 10 years, and halving the bonus accrual for EBS employees.

F. **Manipulating Reported Earnings
Through Improper Use of Reserves**

54. Second Quarter 2000: In mid-July 2000, well after the second quarter 2000 reporting period was supposed to be closed, SKILLING and CAUSEY executed a plan artificially to support and inflate Enron's share price by fraudulently reporting an earnings-per-share figure of 34 cents, as opposed to the 32 cents per share that analysts predicted Enron would report. SKILLING and CAUSEY were aware that Enron's performance for the second quarter did not support an earnings-per-share figure of 34 cents, even after they used earnings levers and manipulated Enron's budget targets.

55. In order to achieve the target that SKILLING and CAUSEY sought to report publicly, a conspirator improperly released into earnings millions of dollars from a reserve account in Enron's energy trading business. The release of millions of dollars from the reserve account had no legitimate business purpose and was done solely to accomplish SKILLING's and CAUSEY's aim to report publicly higher earnings per share than Enron actually achieved.

56. Third Quarter 2000 through Third Quarter 2001: SKILLING and CAUSEY fraudulently reserved trading profits in accounts maintained on an internal Enron ledger designated as "Schedule C." By early 2001, "Schedule C" reserves contained over \$1 billion in unreported earnings. These reserves came principally from Enron's wholesale energy trading business, the profits of which had dramatically increased for reasons including rapidly rising energy prices in the western United States, especially in California. If disclosed to the public, the sudden and large increase in trading profits would have made it apparent that the revenues were closely tied to the market price for energy, and that Enron therefore was exposed to the risk of a

decline in such prices. Such disclosure would have undermined Enron's presentation of itself as an "intermediator" in the energy markets, rather than as a speculative (and therefore risky) trading company, the stock of which would trade at a much lower price-to-earnings multiple.

57. SKILLING and CAUSEY fraudulently used funds that had been improperly placed in the "Schedule C" reserve accounts to avoid reporting large losses in other areas of Enron's business. In the first quarter of 2001, SKILLING and CAUSEY improperly used hundreds of millions of dollars of "Schedule C" reserves to conceal from the investing public hundreds of millions of dollars in losses within Enron's EES business unit.

G. Fraudulently Circumventing Accounting Standards Regarding Goodwill Impairment

58. In the third quarter of 2001, LAY and CAUSEY fraudulently circumvented the accounting standards with respect to "goodwill." The goodwill value of a company is generally the difference between the cost of an acquired entity and the recorded value of the entity's net assets. In or about June 2001, a new accounting rule, known as FAS 142, eliminated the ability to amortize goodwill impairments over a 40-year span, effective January 2002. LAY and CAUSEY undertook to determine the impact of the new goodwill rule on Enron for the purpose of disclosing in Enron's third quarter 2001 results that the rule would not adversely effect Enron's financial results.

59. Enron owned direct and indirect interests in Wessex Water Services ("Wessex"), a United Kingdom-based water company that Enron had purchased in 1998 as part of a strategic initiative to establish a large international water business called Azurix. By October 2000, Enron executives, including LAY and CAUSEY, recognized that Enron's water growth strategy had failed. In early 2001, Enron announced that the water business was not one of its "core

businesses” and began the process of selling water-related assets. In the third quarter of 2001, as LAY and CAUSEY knew, Enron’s internal accountants had determined that the amount of goodwill attributable to Wessex was approximately \$700 million. As LAY and CAUSEY also knew, Enron’s internal accountants also determined that Enron would have to disclose the impact on Enron of a Wessex goodwill impairment unless Enron was able to assert that the company would once again pursue a water growth strategy backed by Enron. Enron’s internal accountants estimated that pursuing such a strategy would require Enron to expend between \$1.5 and \$28 billion.

60. LAY and CAUSEY knew that Enron did not intend to pursue a water growth strategy and that Enron did not have the capital needed to support such a strategy. LAY and CAUSEY also knew that the credit rating agencies would view an announced impairment as a reason to reevaluate Enron’s precarious credit rating. Nevertheless, in October 2001, in order to avoid disclosing to the investing public, the credit rating agencies, and the SEC the impact on Enron of any goodwill impairment associated with Wessex, LAY and CAUSEY falsely claimed to Enron’s auditors that Enron was committed to developing a water growth strategy. LAY and CAUSEY then failed to disclose to the market the impact on Enron of an impairment of Wessex goodwill, when they purported to disclose the impact on Enron of all goodwill impairment that had been reviewed by Enron and its auditors.

H. False and Misleading Representations to Investing Public, SEC, and Rating Agencies

61. At various time during the conspiracy, LAY, SKILLING, and CAUSEY presented knowingly false and misleading statements and made material omissions about Enron’s financial results, the performance of its businesses, and the manner in which its stock should be valued.

These statements and material omissions were disseminated to the investing public in conferences, telephone calls, press releases, interviews, statements to the media and rating agencies, and SEC filings. They included, but were not limited to, those described in paragraphs 62 through 86 below.

62. False and Misleading Statements in Public Filings. In furtherance of the scheme to manipulate Enron's financial results and inflate its stock price, SKILLING and CAUSEY filed and caused to be filed with the SEC false annual 10-K reports for the years ending December 31, 1999 and December 31, 2000, and false quarterly 10-Q reports for the quarters ending September 30, 1999, March 31, 2000, June 30, 2000, September 30, 2000, March 31, 2001 and June 30, 2001. Among other things, those filings contained materially false and misleading financial statements that misstated Enron's actual revenues and earnings and understated Enron's actual debt and expenses and contained materially false and misleading management descriptions and analysis of Enron's business, and they omitted to disclose facts necessary in order to make the disclosures made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

63. First Quarter 2000 Analyst Call. On April 12, 2000, Enron held its quarterly conference call to discuss its earnings for the first quarter of 2000. SKILLING and CAUSEY prepared for and participated in the call. SKILLING stated that Enron's wholesale energy "assets and investments" business recorded earnings of \$220 million for the quarter; that those earnings were "attributable to increased earnings from Enron's portfolio of energy-related and other investments"; that "this was a pretty good quarter for the energy-related investment business in contrast to the drag it was over the last year"; and that the upswing in earnings in that portion of Enron's business was "basically the performance of the existing asset portfolios." SKILLING

omitted to disclose that, in fact approximately \$85 million of the \$220 million in earnings were unrelated to the operating performance of Enron's energy business. Rather, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, through "Project Grayhawk," they were solely attributable to a scheme to generate earnings by manufacturing an increase in Enron's own stock price.

64. Fourth Quarter 2000 Analyst Call. On January 22, 2001, Enron held its quarterly conference call with securities analysts to discuss its earnings for the fourth quarter of 2000. SKILLING and CAUSEY prepared for and participated in the call. SKILLING stated that "for Enron, the situation in California had little impact on fourth quarter results. Let me repeat that. For Enron, the situation in California had little impact on fourth quarter results." He further stated that "nothing can happen in California that would jeopardize" Enron's earnings targets for 2001 and that California business was "small" for Enron. In fact, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, Enron reaped huge profits in 2000 from energy trading in California and concealed hundreds of millions of dollars of those earnings in undisclosed reserve accounts. As SKILLING and CAUSEY also knew, by late January 2001, California utilities owed EES hundreds of millions of dollars that EES could not collect, and Enron personnel had concealed large reserves that Enron was forced to use to offset those uncollectible receivables within Enron Wholesale's books.

65. In support of SKILLING's claims that EBS continued to be successful and a major positive factor contributing to Enron's stock price, a conspirator misled analysts during the call about the source of EBS's earnings in the fourth quarter of 2000. After being directed by SKILLING to answer a question about the source of EBS's revenues, the conspirator said that one-time, nonrecurring transactions such as sales of "dark fiber" and part of EBS's nascent

video-on-demand venture with the Blockbuster company accounted for “a fairly small amount” of EBS’s revenues. In fact, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, the sale of projected future revenues from the Blockbuster video-on-demand venture accounted for \$53 million of EBS’s fourth quarter 2000 revenues of \$63 million.

66. January 25, 2001 Analyst Conference. Enron held its annual conference in Houston with securities analysts on January 25, 2001. SKILLING claimed that all of Enron’s major businesses, including EBS and EES, were “strong franchises with sustainable high earnings power.” With regard to EBS, he said that “Our network’s in place. We have customers and specific products and [devices] for the marketplace.” He asserted that Enron’s stock, which was then trading at over \$80 per share, should be valued at \$126 per share, attributing \$63 of that alleged stock value to EBS and EES. He also stated that Enron was “not a trading business.”

67. In fact, as SKILLING knew, EBS was performing poorly and had made little commercial progress in 2000; EBS personnel had recommended shutting down or selling EBS’s network; EBS had few revenue prospects for the upcoming year; and EBS had an unsupportable cost structure that, without correction, could lead to substantial losses well in excess of those Enron had publicly forecast. As SKILLING also knew, EES too was a struggling business. EES was owed hundreds of millions of dollars in receivables by California utilities that it could not collect and that Enron personnel were concealing within Enron Wholesale. As SKILLING knew, these uncollected receivables were in part the result of a lack of internal controls and poor risk management within EES.

68. March 23, 2001 Analyst Call. Enron held a special conference call with securities analysts on March 23, 2001 in an effort to dispel growing public concerns about Enron’s stock,

which had fallen from over \$80 per share to under \$60 per share in less than two months. SKILLING and CAUSEY prepared for and participated in the call. SKILLING stated that "Enron's business is in great shape" and "I know this is a bad stock market but Enron's in good shape," even though, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, both of Enron's showpiece new businesses, EBS and EES, were failing. SKILLING stated that Enron was "highly confident" of its income target of \$225 million for the year for EES and that EES was seeing the "positive effect" of "the chaos that's going on out in California." In fact, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, EES's existing contracts were overvalued by hundreds of millions of dollars. EES was owed hundreds of millions of dollars by the California utilities that it could not collect and Enron personnel had concealed. EES's new management privately was predicting that it would take a year or more for EES to become truly profitable.

69. SKILLING further stated that EBS "is coming along just fine" and that the company was "very comfortable with the volumes and targets and the benchmarks that we set for EBS." He said that EBS's two profit-and-loss centers, intermediation and content services, were "growing fast" and that EBS was not laying off employees but rather "moving people around inside EBS" and that this was "very good news." In fact, as SKILLING knew, EBS was continuing to fail. Senior personnel at EBS privately had reported that the unit had an unsupportable cost structure and unproven revenue model. One senior EBS executive estimated that Enron would need to record as a loss approximately half of EBS's \$875 million book value. EBS was laying off employees and SKILLING had told employees based in Portland, Oregon that EBS would be centralized in Houston and jobs would be cut because of a "total meltdown" in the broadband industry.

70. First Quarter 2001 Analyst Call. Enron held its conference call with securities analysts to discuss its first quarter 2001 results on April 17, 2001. SKILLING and CAUSEY prepared for and participated in the call. SKILLING talked about continued "big, big numbers" in EES's energy contracting business. He falsely explained Enron's movement of EES's energy contract portfolio into Enron Wholesale by omitting any reference to EES's large losses or their transfer to Enron Wholesale and stating, "[W]e have such capability in our wholesale business that we were -- we just weren't taking advantage of that in managing our portfolio at the retail side. And this retail portfolio has gotten so big so fast that we needed to get the best -- the best hands working risk management there." While Enron reported modest first quarter earnings for EES of \$40 million, in fact, as SKILLING and CAUSEY knew, EES was facing losses approaching one billion dollars, including overvalued contracts, uncollectible receivables with the California utilities, and huge costs from an increased California regulatory surcharge.

71. SKILLING also stated regarding EBS that "[o]ur network is now substantially complete" and that it "is just not the case" that Enron was reducing staff of EBS because it was getting out of the content services business. SKILLING stressed that the reported losses in the unit were on target and "anticipated" and that the unit's capital expenditures were being reduced because it was "able to get access to connectivity without having to build it." In fact, as SKILLING knew, the cost-cutting measures at EBS were instituted because the business was continuing to fail and to lay off employees rather than redeploy them, and was incurring much larger than expected losses that could not be offset with projected future revenues.

72. Second Quarter 2001 Analyst Call. Enron held its conference call with securities analysts to discuss its second quarter 2001 results on July 12, 2001. SKILLING and CAUSEY

prepared for and participated in the call. SKILLING stated that Enron had a "great quarter" and that EES "had an outstanding second quarter" and was "firmly on track to achieve our 2001 target of \$225 million" in earnings; that losses in EBS were due to "industry conditions" and "dried up" revenue opportunities; and that Enron's "new businesses are expanding and adding to our earnings power and valuation, and we are well positioned for future growth."

73. In fact, as SKILLING knew, by the close of the second quarter of 2001, EBS had failed and its increased losses were because it had stopped the one-time sales of portions of its business that had previously been the only significant source of its earnings. EES was facing hundreds of millions of dollars in concealed losses and was a year or more away from any prospect of success.

74. September 26, 2001 Employee On-Line Forum. On September 26, 2001, LAY held an on-line forum with Enron employees. LAY stated that "[t]he third quarter is looking great. We will hit our numbers. We are continuing to have strong growth in our businesses, and at this time I think we're positioned for a very strong fourth quarter." He added that "we have record operating and financial results" and that "the balance sheet is strong." In fact, as LAY knew, Enron was preparing to announce a significant overall quarterly loss for the first time since 1997, and had committed a \$1.2 billion accounting error, among other problems facing the company. In addition, LAY knew that the balance sheet reflected approximately \$7 billion in embedded losses in business units and overvalued investments and that Enron had been exploring such drastic solutions to Enron's financial problems as a merger with another company and the sale of Enron's pipelines.

75. LAY announced to the employees, "I have strongly encouraged our 16b [management] officers to buy additional Enron stock. Some, including myself, have done so over the last couple of months and others will probably do so in the future. . . . My personal belief is that Enron stock is an incredible bargain at current prices." LAY deliberately created the impression with Enron employees that his confidence in Enron's stock was such that he had increased his personal ownership of Enron stock in the past two months. In fact, as LAY knew, during the prior "couple of months," LAY had purchased approximately \$4 million in Enron stock but sold \$24 million in Enron stock in sales to Enron that were concealed from Enron employees and the rest of the investing public.

76. October 12, 2001 Call with Credit Rating Agency. On or about October 12, 2001, LAY had a telephone call with a representative of a prominent credit rating agency. LAY stated that Enron and its auditors had "scrubbed" the company's books and that no additional write-downs would be forthcoming. In fact, as LAY knew, Enron's international assets were being carried on Enron's books for billions of dollars in excess of their fair value. LAY further knew that he made misrepresentations to representatives of Andersen in order to conceal the Wessex \$700 million goodwill impairment, and had falsely claimed that Enron would pursue a growth strategy in the water business. In addition, as LAY knew, Enron's auditors had not been able to "scrub" the books due to misrepresentations by him and others to them regarding Wessex goodwill.

77. Third Quarter 2001 Analyst Call. On October 16, 2001, Enron held its quarterly conference call with securities analysts to discuss its third quarter 2001 earnings results. LAY and CAUSEY prepared for and participated in the call. For the first time during the duration of

the scheme to manipulate its reported financial results, Enron conceded that it had suffered large losses, totaling approximately \$1 billion, in certain segments of its business. These areas included many declining assets that had been concealed in the "Raptor" hedges, as well as EBS. However, LAY and CAUSEY attempted to mislead the investing public and omit information about these losses in order to minimize the negative effect on Enron's stock price. LAY described the losses as "nonrecurring," that is, a one-time or unusual earnings event. However, as LAY and CAUSEY knew, the losses were not properly characterized as non-recurring.

78. In addition, LAY stated: "In connection with the early termination [of the Raptor structures], shareholders' equity will be reduced approximately \$1.2 billion." In fact, as LAY and CAUSEY knew, the reduction in equity resulted not from the termination of the "Raptor" structures, but principally from a huge accounting error by Enron. In a further effort to deflect attention from the equity reduction, LAY, CAUSEY and others chose not to disclose the problem in Enron's third quarter press release.

79. LAY further stated that after review by its outside auditors, "we currently estimate, based upon this recent review, that up to \$200 million goodwill adjustment may be necessary, and will be recorded as required by the accounting principles in the first quarter of 2002." In fact, as LAY and CAUSEY knew, the adjustment did not account for the impact on Enron of the impaired Wessex goodwill of approximately \$700 million, due to misrepresentations by LAY and CAUSEY and others.

80. In response to questions regarding the value of Elektro, a Brazilian power plant, which Enron carried on its books as worth in excess of \$2 billion, LAY stated that "[w]e may well have that asset and operate that asset for quite some time. It's not a bad asset, it's a good

asset, just like a lot of the other assets in this portfolio.” In fact, as LAY knew, Elektro was overvalued by as much as \$1 billion and was classified by Enron’s Risk Assessment and Control group as “troubled.”

81. Third Quarter Investor and Analyst Roadshows. Immediately after the announcement of Enron’s third quarter earnings results, LAY and other senior Enron executives held a series of meetings, or roadshows, with analysts and large institutional investors. LAY and the other senior executives touted EES as one of Enron’s three primary businesses, and misleadingly portrayed EES as rapidly increasing in profitability, quarter to quarter and year to year. In fact, as LAY knew, Enron had shifted hundreds of millions of dollars in EES losses to Enron Wholesale in the first quarter of 2001, which gave EES the false appearance of profitability. LAY additionally distributed materials at the roadshows that misleadingly described the value of the international portfolio as \$6.5 billion. In fact, as LAY knew, the \$6.5 billion valuation vastly overstated the true value of the international assets by billions of dollars.

82. October 23, 2001 Analyst Call. Enron held a special conference call with securities analysts on October 23, 2001, in an effort to dispel growing public concerns about Enron’s stock, which had lost 25% of its value in the week following the October 16, 2001, third quarter earnings announcement. LAY and CAUSEY prepared for and participated in the call. LAY stated that “[w]e’re not trying to conceal anything. We’re not hiding anything.” “We’re really trying to make sure that the analysts and the shareholders and the debt holders really know what’s going on here. So, we are not trying to hold anything back.” “I’m disclosing everything we’ve found.” In fact, while professing candor, LAY failed to disclose numerous dire facts about the state of Enron’s business that he knew and that are outlined in this Indictment.

83. LAY further stated that “we, in fact both we and our outside auditors had already looked at all of our assets to determine if we had impairments under the new goodwill accounting rules that take effect first quarter next year. And as you probably recall, out of that review, indeed there was somewhat less than \$200 million of adjustments that will be required in the first quarter out of our whole portfolio. And clearly, if there are impairments other than that, why then of course Arthur Andersen as well as our internal accounting staff would require that we write that down also.” In fact, as LAY and CAUSEY knew, the adjustment did not include the impact on Enron of the impaired Wessex goodwill of approximately \$700 million, due to misrepresentations by LAY and CAUSEY and others.

84. October 23, 2001 All Employees Meeting. Shortly after the October 23 analyst call, LAY attended another all-employee meeting, with live webcast and video teleconference communication to Enron’s 28,000 employees. LAY stated “[o]ur liquidity is fine. As a matter of fact, it’s better than fine, it’s strong” In fact, LAY knew that in order to maintain liquidity, Enron had been forced to take the unusual step of offering its pipelines as collateral to obtain a needed \$1 billion bank loan. LAY knew that Enron had failed to complete a \$1 billion bond deal planned for execution since July, 2001. LAY also knew that the only readily available source of liquidity was the \$3 billion corporate line of credit, which, if drawn, would signal the dire straits of Enron’s finances. Indeed, three days later, LAY authorized the withdrawal of the entire \$3 billion from the line of credit.

85. November 12, 2001 Analyst Call. Enron executives held a special conference call with securities analysts on November 12, 2001, in another effort to dampen public concerns about the decline of Enron’s stock and the nature of Enron’s finances. LAY falsely stated that

“[w]e don’t have anything we’re trying to hide I’m disclosing everything that we’ve found.” LAY further stated that “one reason we went ahead and did this preliminary review with AA [Andersen] before we released these earnings, is to make sure we didn’t have any other goodwill adjustments except the \$200 million I mentioned we had to deal with, because we wanted to get as much of that on the table at this – with this report as we could.” In fact, as LAY knew, he and other senior Enron managers again failed to disclose a litany of negative facts about Enron and that the \$200 million figure did not account for the impact on Enron of the impaired Wessex goodwill of approximately \$700 million, due to misrepresentations by LAY and CAUSEY and others.

COUNT ONE

(ALL DEFENDANTS: Conspiracy to Commit Securities and Wire Fraud)

86. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

87. In or about and between late 1999 and December 2001, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants KENNETH L. LAY, JEFFREY K. SKILLING, and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, did knowingly and intentionally conspire (1) to willfully and unlawfully use and employ manipulative and deceptive contrivances and directly and indirectly (i) to employ devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) to make untrue statements of material fact and omit to state facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) to engage in acts, practices, and courses of conduct which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing public, in connection with the purchase and sale of Enron securities and by use of the instruments of

communication in interstate commerce and the mails, all in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff and Rule 10b-5 of the SEC, Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5, and (2) to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud Enron, its shareholders and other members of the investing public, the SEC, and others, including depriving Enron and its shareholders of the intangible right of honest services owed by LAY, SKILLING, CAUSEY and other Enron executives to them, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations and promises, and, for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice would transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communications in interstate commerce writings, signs, pictures and sounds, all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343.

OVERT ACTS

88. In furtherance of the conspiracy and in order to carry out the objectives thereof, on or about the dates listed below, in the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants KENNETH L. LAY, JEFFREY K. SKILLING, and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, committed and caused to be committed the following overt acts, among others:

- a. On or about November 15, 1999, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 1999;
- b. On or about March 30, 2000, SKILLING and CAUSEY signed and caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's annual report on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 1999;
- c. On or about April 12, 2000, SKILLING, CAUSEY and others conducted a

quarterly conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts;

d. On or about May 15, 2000, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2000;

e. On or about August 14, 2000, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2000;

f. On or about November 14, 2000, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2000;

g. On or about January 22, 2001, SKILLING, CAUSEY and others conducted a quarterly conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts;

h. On or about January 25, 2001, SKILLING and others planned and delivered an annual presentation in Houston, Texas to securities analysts;

i. On or about March 23, 2001, SKILLING, CAUSEY and others conducted a conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts;

j. On or about April 2, 2001, SKILLING and CAUSEY signed and caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's annual report on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2000;

k. On or about April 17, 2001, SKILLING, CAUSEY and others conducted a quarterly conference call with securities analysts;

l. On or about May 15, 2001, SKILLING and CAUSEY caused to be filed

via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2001;

m. On or about July 12, 2001, SKILLING, CAUSEY and others conducted a quarterly conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts;

n. On or about August 14, 2001, CAUSEY caused to be filed via electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to the SEC in Washington, D.C., Enron's quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2001;

o. On or about September 26, 2001, LAY conducted an "online forum" with Enron employees;

p. On or about October 12, 2001, LAY spoke to a representative of a national credit rating agency regarding Enron's credit rating;

q. On or about October 12, 2001, LAY and CAUSEY met with Arthur Andersen audit partners regarding goodwill;

r. On or about October 16, 2001, LAY, CAUSEY and others conducted a quarterly conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts;

s. On or about October 23, 2001, LAY, CAUSEY and others conducted a quarterly conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts;

t. On or about October 23, 2001, LAY and others conducted an "all employee" Enron meeting from Houston, Texas; and

u. On or about November 12, 2001, LAY and others conducted a conference call from Houston, Texas with securities analysts.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 371 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT TWO
(SKILLING/CAUSEY: Securities Fraud: Raptor Fraud)

89. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

90. In or about and between January 2000 and December 2001, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants JEFFREY K. SKILLING and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, in a course of conduct involving the construction and use of Enron financial devices known as the Raptors, did willfully and unlawfully use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances and directly and indirectly (i) employ devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) make untrue statements of material facts and omit to state facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) engage in acts, practices, and courses of conduct which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing public, in connection with purchases and sales of Enron securities and by the use of the instruments of communication in interstate commerce and the mails.

(Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 *et seq.*)

COUNTS THREE THROUGH SIX
(SKILLING/CAUSEY: Wire Fraud: Raptor Fraud)

91. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

92. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants JEFFREY K. SKILLING and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, having devised a scheme and artifice to defraud Enron, its shareholders and other members of the investing public, the SEC, and others,

including depriving Enron and its shareholders of the intangible right of honest services owed by SKILLING and CAUSEY and other Enron executives to them, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, did for the purposes of executing such scheme and artifice transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, specifically the wire transfers of funds specified below among Enron, LJM and entities involved in the Raptor hedging structures.

Count	Defendant(s)	Date	Wire Transfer
3.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	September 7, 2000	\$41,000,000 from Enron Citibank account no. 00076486, New York, New York, to Talon 1 LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51419, Wilmington, Delaware
4.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	September 7, 2000	\$41,000,000 from Talon 1 LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51419, Wilmington, Delaware, to LJM2-Talon LLC Chase Manhattan account no. 323-156479, Houston, Texas
5.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	October 3, 2000	\$41,000,000 from Enron Citibank account no. 00076486, New York, New York, to Timberwolf I LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51971, Wilmington, Delaware

6.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	October 4, 2000	\$41,000,000 from Timberwolf I LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51971, Wilmington, Delaware, to LJM2-Timberwolf LLC Chase Manhattan account no. 323-864104, Houston, Texas
----	--	-----------------	--

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT SEVEN

(CAUSEY: Money Laundering Conspiracy -- the Raptors)

93. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85 and 92 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

94. In or about and between January 2000 and December 2001, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, the defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY and others did knowingly and intentionally conspire to commit offenses against the United States in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956 and 1957, to wit:

(a) to conduct and attempt to conduct financial transactions affecting interstate commerce, which transactions involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and securities fraud, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff, and 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5, (i) with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud and securities fraud, and (ii) knowing that the transactions were designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, and that while conducting and attempting to conduct such financial

transactions, knew that the property involved in the financial transactions represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 1956(a)(1)(B)(i); and

(b) to engage and attempt to engage in monetary transactions by, through and to a financial institution, affecting interstate commerce, in criminally derived property of a value greater than \$10,000, that is the deposit, withdrawal, and transfer of funds, such property having been derived from a specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud and securities fraud, in violation of the provisions of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1957.

OVERT ACTS

95. In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects thereof, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, the defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY and others did commit and cause to be committed the following overt acts, among others:

Overt Act	Date	Wire Transfer
a.	September 19, 2000	\$6,000,000 from LJM2-Talon LLC Chase Manhattan account no. 323-156479, Houston, Texas, to Talon 1 LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51419, Wilmington, Delaware
b.	September 19, 2000	\$6,000,000 from Talon 1 LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51419, Wilmington, Delaware, to Enron Citibank account no. 00076486, New York, New York

c.	October 13, 2000	\$1,100,000 from LJM2-Timberwolf LLC Chase Manhattan account no. 323-864104, Houston, Texas, to Timberwolf I LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51971, Wilmington, Delaware
d.	October 13, 2000	\$1,100,000 from Timberwolf I LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51971, Wilmington, Delaware, to Enron Citibank account no. 00076486, New York, New York

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS EIGHT THROUGH ELEVEN
(CAUSEY: Money Laundering - the Raptors)

96. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85, 92 and 95 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

97. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, the defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY and others, knowing that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct such a financial transaction affecting interstate commerce which in fact involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343, and securities fraud, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b), 78ff and 17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5, (i) with the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud and securities fraud, and (ii) knowing that the transaction was designed in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership and control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, to wit: wire fraud and securities fraud, as follows:

Count	Date	Wire Transfer
8.	September 19, 2000	\$6,000,000 from LJM2-Talon LLC Chase Manhattan account no. 323-156479, Houston, Texas, to Talon 1 LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51419, Wilmington, Delaware
9.	September 19, 2000	\$6,000,000 from Talon 1 LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51419, Wilmington, Delaware, to Enron Citibank account no. 00076486, New York, New York
10.	October 13, 2000	\$1,100,000 from LJM2-Timberwolf LLC Chase Manhattan account no. 323-864104, Houston, Texas, to Timberwolf I LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51971, Wilmington, Delaware
11.	October 13, 2000	\$1,100,000 from Timberwolf I LLC Wilmington Trust Co. account no. 51971, Wilmington, Delaware, to Enron Citibank account no. 00076486, New York, New York

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i) and 1956(a)(1)(B)(i), 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS TWELVE AND THIRTEEN

(LAY: Wire Fraud: False And Misleading Statements in Employee Meetings)

98. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.
99. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant KENNETH L. LAY, having devised a scheme and artifice to defraud Enron, its shareholders and other members of the investing public, the SEC, and others, including depriving Enron and its shareholders of

the intangible right of honest services owed by LAY and other Enron executives to them, and to obtain money and property by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, did for the purposes of executing such scheme and artifice transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate and foreign commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures, and sounds, as follows:

Count	Date	Wire Transmission
12.	September 26, 2001	Enron Online Forum electronic transmission from Houston, Texas to other states and internationally
13.	October 23, 2001	All Employee Meeting video teleconference from Houston, Texas to other states and internationally

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343, 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS FOURTEEN THROUGH TWENTY
(SKILLING/CAUSEY: Securities Fraud: Financial Statements)

100. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

101. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants JEFFREY K. SKILLING and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, in Enron Forms 10-K and 10-Q filed with the SEC in Washington, D.C., did willfully and unlawfully use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances and directly and indirectly (i) employ devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) make untrue statements of material facts and omit to state facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,

not misleading; and (iii) engage in acts, practices, and courses of conduct which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing public, in connection with purchases and sales of Enron securities and by the use of the instruments of communication in interstate commerce and the mails.

Count	Date	Report
14.	March 30, 2000	Form 10-K for Enron for the Fiscal Year 1999
15.	May 15, 2000	Form 10-Q for Enron for the First Quarter 2000
16.	August 14, 2000	Form 10-Q for Enron for the Second Quarter 2000
17.	November 14, 2000	Form 10-Q for Enron for the Third Quarter 2000
18.	April 2, 2001	Form 10-K for Enron for the Fiscal Year 2000
19.	May 15, 2001	Form 10-Q for Enron for the First Quarter 2001
20.	August 14, 2001	Form 10-Q for Enron for the Second Quarter 2001

(Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS TWENTY-ONE THROUGH THIRTY

**(ALL DEFENDANTS: Securities Fraud:
Presentations to Securities Analysts and Rating Agency Representative)**

102. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

103. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants KENNETH L. LAY, JEFFREY K. SKILLING, and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, in presentations to securities analysts and rating agencies, did willfully and unlawfully use and employ manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances and directly and indirectly (i) employ devices, schemes and artifices to defraud; (ii) make untrue statements of material facts and omit to state facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (iii) engage in acts, practices, and courses of conduct which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing public, in connection with purchases and sales of Enron stock and by the use of the instruments of communication in interstate commerce and the mails.

Count	Defendant(s)	Date	Presentation
21.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	April 12, 2000	First Quarter 2000 Analyst Conference Call
22.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	January 22, 2001	Fourth Quarter 2000 Analyst Conference Call
23.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING	January 25, 2001	Annual Analyst Conference in Houston, Texas

24.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	March 23, 2001	Analyst Conference Call to Discuss Enron Stock Price
25.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	April 17, 2001	First Quarter 2001 Analyst Conference Call
26.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	July 12, 2001	Second Quarter 2001 Analyst Conference Call
27.	KENNETH L. LAY	October 12, 2001	Telephone Call with Rating Agency Representative in New York
28.	KENNETH L. LAY RICHARD A. CAUSEY	October 16, 2001	Third Quarter 2001 Analyst Conference Call
29.	KENNETH L. LAY RICHARD A. CAUSEY	October 23, 2001	Analyst Conference Call
30.	KENNETH L. LAY	November 12, 2001	Analyst Conference Call

(Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS THIRTY-ONE AND THIRTY-TWO

(SKILLING/CAUSEY: False Statements to Auditors In Annual Representation Letters)

104. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

105. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants JEFFREY K.

SKILLING and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, as officers of the company, knowingly and willfully made and caused to be made materially false and misleading statements, and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances under which the statements were made, not misleading, to accountants retained by Enron, an issuer of a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in connection with the audit and examination of the financial statements of Enron as required by law to be made, and the preparation and filing of documents and reports required to be filed with the SEC pursuant to rules and regulations enacted by the SEC.

106. Specifically, while agreeing that they were “responsible for the fair presentation of the financial statements,” SKILLING and CAUSEY falsely represented to Enron’s accountants that, among other things, (a) the statements and representations made in Enron’s financial statements were true; (b) Enron properly recorded or disclosed in its financial statements all agreements to repurchase assets previously sold; (c) Enron properly recorded or disclosed in its financial statements guarantees, whether written or oral, under which Enron was contingently liable; (d) Enron’s unaudited quarterly financial data fairly summarized, among other things, the operating revenues, net income and per share data based upon that income for each quarter; (e) there was no material fraud or any other irregularities that, although not material, involved management or other employees who had a significant role in Enron’s system of internal control, or fraud involving other employees that could have a material effect on the financial statements; (f) all related party transactions, including sales and guarantees (both oral and written), were properly recorded and disclosed; and (g) Enron made available to the accountants all financial records and related data; well knowing that these statements were false.

Count	Defendant(s)	Date	Statement to Auditors
31.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	March 13, 2000	Annual Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-K for Year 1999
32.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	February 23, 2001	Annual Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-K for Year 2000

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78m(a), 78m(b)(2), and 78ff; Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.13b2-2; and Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS THIRTY-THREE THROUGH THIRTY-SEVEN
(SKILLING/CAUSEY: False Statements to Auditors In Quarterly Representation Letters)

107. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

108. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendants JEFFREY K. SKILLING and RICHARD A. CAUSEY, and others, as officers of the company, knowingly and willfully made and caused to be made materially false and misleading statements, and omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the circumstances under which the statements were made, not misleading, to accountants retained by Enron, an issuer of a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in connection with the review of the financial statements of Enron as required by law to be made, and the preparation and filing of documents and reports required to be filed with the SEC pursuant to rules and regulations enacted by the SEC.

109. Specifically, while agreeing that they were "responsible for the fair presentation of the financial statements," SKILLING and CAUSEY falsely represented to Enron's accountants that, among other things, (a) the financial statements were presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; (b) Enron properly recorded or disclosed in its financial statements guarantees, whether written or oral, under which Enron was contingently liable; (c) there was no fraud involving management or employees who had a significant role in internal control, or fraud involving others that could have a material effect on the financial statements; (d) all related party transactions, including sales and guarantees (both oral and written), were properly recorded and disclosed; and (e) Enron made available to the accountants all financial records and related data; well knowing that these statements were false.

Count	Defendant(s)	Date	Statement to Auditors
33.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	May 12, 2000	Quarterly Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-Q for First Quarter 2000
34.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	August 11, 2000	Quarterly Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-Q for Second Quarter 2000
35.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	November 13, 2000	Quarterly Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-Q for Third Quarter 2000

36.	JEFFREY K. SKILLING RICHARD A. CAUSEY	May 15, 2001	Quarterly Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-Q for First Quarter 2001
37.	RICHARD A. CAUSEY	August 14, 2001	Quarterly Representation Letter in Connection with Enron Form 10-Q for Second Quarter 2001

(Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78m(a), 78m(b)(2), and 78ff; Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.13b2-2; and Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNT THIRTY-EIGHT
(LAY: Bank Fraud)

110. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

111. In or about and between January 1999 and November 2001, both dates being approximate and inclusive, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, the defendant KENNETH L. LAY executed and attempted to execute a scheme and artifice (a) to defraud Bank of America, Chase Bank of Texas, and Compass Bank (the "Banks"), the accounts of which were insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, and (b) to obtain money, funds and credits under the custody and control of the Banks, by means of materially false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises.

112. Pursuant to Regulations U and X, prescribed by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System, a borrower may not purchase or carry any security in wilful violation of Regulation U. Regulation U requires lenders not to extend, maintain or arrange credit to be used

for the purpose of buying or carrying margin stock ("purpose credit") in an amount that exceeds the maximum loan value of such stock. Lines of credit that are not to be used to purchase or carry margin stock are known as "non-purpose lines of credit." The purpose of these rules is to safeguard the national economy by reducing and regulating the amount of credit used to speculate in the stock market.

113. In or about January 1999 through November 2001, the defendant KENNETH L. LAY controlled, on behalf of himself, his family, and a family investment vehicle, several non-purpose lines of credit at: (a) Bank of America (two lines of credit, in the amount of \$10 million (the "\$10 million line of credit") and between \$37.5 and \$40 million at various times (the "\$40 million line of credit")), (b) Chase Bank of Texas (between \$12 and \$15 million line of credit at various times) and (c) Compass Bank (\$10 million line of credit). To obtain and renew each of these lines of credit, LAY was required to and did represent to the Banks in documents known as Statements of Purpose for an Extension of Credit Secured by Margin Stock ("Forms U-1"), pledge agreements, and promissory notes that he would not directly or indirectly use the non-purpose lines of credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying margin stock, as follows:

Date	Bank	Loan Document
February 3, 1999	Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	Pledge Agreement
February 3, 1999	Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	Pledge Agreement
June 15, 1999	Chase Bank of Texas	Form U-1

June 15, 1999	Chase Bank of Texas	Promissory Note
November 1, 1999	Compass Bank	Form U-1
February 28, 2000	Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	Pledge Agreement
August 29, 2000	Chase Bank of Texas	Promissory Note
September 27, 2000	Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	Form U-1
September 27, 2000	Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	Form U-1
November 9, 2001	Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	Pledge Agreement

114. Based on LAY's representations, the Banks extended non-purpose lines of credit with loan to value ratios of 70 to 80 percent. These non-purpose lines of credit gave LAY access to millions of dollars more credit than "purpose" lines of credit would have provided. The non-purpose lines of credit were secured by shares of stock, primarily Enron stock. At various times, LAY used funds drawn from a line of credit provided by Enron to pay down his non-purpose lines of credit provided by the Banks.

115. Between January 1999 and November 2001, in contravention of his representations to the Banks, LAY directly and indirectly purchased and carried margin stock with funds drawn from his non-purpose lines of credit, thereby exposing the Banks to a higher risk of loss.

116. On or about the dates set forth below, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, the defendant KENNETH L. LAY, having devised a scheme and artifice to defraud the Banks, did for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice cause the transfers of funds set forth below:

Bank with Non-Purpose Line of Credit	Date of Transfer	Amount of Transfer
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	January 13, 1999	\$2,300,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	January 26, 1999	\$600,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	May 21, 1999	\$2,525,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	June 15, 1999	\$190,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	July 26, 1999	\$1,000,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	December 14, 1999	\$500,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	March 1, 2000	\$2,000,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	March 1, 2000	\$5,000,000

Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	June 29, 2000	\$1,000,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	July 19, 2000	\$2,800,000
Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	September 13, 2000	\$1,250,000
Compass Bank	November 19, 1999	\$1,000,000
Chase Bank of Texas	July 13, 1999	\$2,000,000
Chase Bank of Texas	October 28, 1999	\$500,000
Chase Bank of Texas	December 1, 1999	\$1,000,000
Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	March 1, 2000	\$575,000
Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	July 19, 2000	\$610,000
Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	November 26, 2001	\$200,000
Bank of America (\$10 million line of credit)	November 28, 2001	\$320,000

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344, 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS THIRTY-NINE THROUGH FORTY-ONE
(LAY: False Statements to Banks)

117. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 85 and 111 through 116 are realleged as if

fully set forth here.

118. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, defendant KENNETH L. LAY knowingly made false statements in Forms U-1 and a pledge agreement for the purpose of influencing the action of the Banks set forth below in the issuance, extension and renewal of non-purpose loans and lines of credit. Specifically, LAY falsely represented in each instance that he would not use the proceeds of the non-purpose lines of credit directly or indirectly to purchase or carry margin stock, when in truth and fact, as LAY well knew, he intended to use proceeds of those lines of credit directly and indirectly to purchase and carry margin stock, as follows:

Count	Date	Bank	Loan Document
39.	February 3, 1999	Bank of America (\$40 million line of credit)	Pledge Agreement
40.	June 15, 1999	Chase Bank of Texas	Form U-1
41.	November 1, 1999	Compass Bank	Form U-1

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1014, 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS FORTY-TWO THROUGH FIFTY-ONE
(SKILLING: Insider Trading)

119. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

120. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant JEFFREY K. SKILLING knowingly and willfully used and employed manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, by use of means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, in violation of Rule

10b-5 of the Rules and Regulations of the SEC (Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5), in that he engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing public in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff. Specifically, while in possession of material non-public information, SKILLING sold shares of Enron stock and generated total proceeds of \$62,626,401.90.

Count	Date	Shares	Sale Price(s)	Gross Proceeds
42.	April 25, 2000	10,000	\$73.875 \$73.9375	\$738,893.75
43.	April 26, 2000	86,217	\$74.00 \$73.875 \$72.50	\$6,338,183.00
44.	August 30, 2000	15,000	\$86.125	\$1,291,875.00
45.	September 1, 2000	60,000	\$87.00 \$86.875 \$87.25	\$5,220,000.00
46.	September 5, 2000	11,441	\$85.00	\$972,485.00
47.	November 1, 2000	72,600	\$83.2406 \$83.0625	\$6,041,023.50
48.	November 2, 2000	20,000	\$82.3381	\$1,646,762.00
49.	November 7, 2000	46,068	\$82.5872	\$3,804,627.13

50.	November 15, 2000	10,000 per week for 31 weeks per written sales plan	\$84.00 to \$49.90	\$20,985,247.42
51.	September 17, 2001	500,000	\$31.5061 \$31.0822	\$15,587,305.10

(Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)

COUNTS FIFTY-TWO AND FIFTY-THREE
(CAUSEY: Insider Trading)

121. The allegations in paragraphs 1 through 85 are realleged as if fully set forth here.

122. On or about the dates set forth below, each such date constituting a separate count of this Indictment, within the Southern District of Texas and elsewhere, defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY knowingly and willfully used and employed manipulative and deceptive devices and contrivances, by use of means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, in violation of Rule 10b-5 of the Rules and Regulations of the SEC (Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5), in that he engaged in acts, practices, and courses of business which would and did operate as a fraud and deceit upon members of the investing public in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff. Specifically, while in possession of material non-public information, CAUSEY sold shares of Enron stock and generated total proceeds of \$10,316,807.83.

Count	Date	Shares	Sale Price(s)	Gross Proceeds
52.	January 21, 2000	45,000	\$72.00 \$71.00	\$3,220,000.00
53.	September 28, 2000	80,753	\$87.8829	\$7,096,807.83

(Title 17, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 240.10b-5; Title 15, United States Code, Sections 78j(b) and 78ff; Title 18, United States Code, Sections 2 and 3551 et seq.)

FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS

(ALL DEFENDANTS: 18 U.S.C. §§ 981 and 982, 28 U.S.C. § 2461)

123. Upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged with respect to defendant KENNETH L. LAY in Counts 1, 12-13, 27-30, and 38-41 of this Indictment, with respect to defendant JEFFREY K. SKILLING in Counts 1-6, 14-30, and 42-51 of this Indictment, and with respect to defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY in Counts 1-11, 14-22, 24-26, 28-29, 52, and 53 of this Indictment, defendants LAY, SKILLING and CAUSEY shall forfeit to the United States pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(c) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c) any property, real or personal, constituting or derived from proceeds obtained directly or indirectly as a result of the said violations, including but not limited to the following:

124. With respect to defendant JEFFREY K. SKILLING, the following property:

- (A) a sum of money equal to the amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the conspiracy, securities fraud and wire fraud offenses, for which the defendants are jointly and severally liable;
- (B) real property known as 1999 McKinney Ave., #1008, Dallas, Texas;
- (C) real property known as 10 North Briarwood Court, Houston, Texas;
- (D) \$50,000 in cash in MML Investors Services, Inc., BMA account number 251518;

- (E) securities listed in Attachment A, worth approximately \$49,342,462.98, and \$808,643.74 in cash, contained in Charles Schwab account number 8110-6773;
- (F) \$132,544.65 contained in Mass Mutual Financial Group Policy account number 11502764; and
- (G) \$91,800.51 in cash contained in Southwest Bank account number 3229351 in the name of Veld Interests, Inc.

125. With respect to defendant KENNETH L. LAY, the following property:

- (A) a sum of money equal to the amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the conspiracy, and securities and wire fraud offenses, for which the defendants are jointly and severally liable; and
- (B) real property, together with its appurtenances, improvements, fixtures, attachments and easements, located at 2121 Kirby Drive, Residential Unit 33, 33rd floor, Houston, Texas, 77019, more particularly described as a condominium apartment unit and an individual interest in the common elements located in and being a part of the Huntingdon, a Condominium regime in Harris County, Texas.

126. With respect to defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY, the following property:

- (A) a sum of money equal to the amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the conspiracy, securities fraud and wire fraud offenses, for which the defendants are jointly and severally liable;
- (B) real property known as 39 North Regent Oak, The Woodlands, Texas;
- (C) securities listed in Attachment B, worth approximately \$2,589,020.98, contained in First Union account number 2005-0471;
- (D) approximately \$274,305.69 in Manulife North America Annuity account number 2107848; and
- (E) approximately \$219,434.87 in Manulife North America Annuity account number 2106714.

127. Pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(1), upon conviction of one or more of the offenses alleged with respect to defendant RICHARD A. CAUSEY in Counts

7 through 11 shall forfeit to the United States all right, title, and interest in any and all property involved in each offense in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 and 1957, or conspiracy to commit such offense, for which the defendant is convicted, and all property traceable to such property, including the following: 1) all money or other property that was the subject of each transaction, transportation, transmission or transfer in violation of Section 1956 and 1957; 2) all commissions, fees and other property constituting proceeds obtained as a result of those violations; and 3) all property used in any manner or part to commit or to facilitate the commission of those violations.

128. In the event that any property described above as being subject to forfeiture, as a result of any act or omission by either defendant:

- (a) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;
- (b) has been transferred or sold to or deposited with a third person;
- (c) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court;
- (d) has been substantially diminished in value; or
- (e) has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficulty;

it is the intent of the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b)(1), to seek forfeiture of any other property of defendants KENNETH L. LAY, JEFFREY K. SKILLING, and RICHARD A. CAUSEY up to the value of the forfeitable property described above.

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981 and 982; Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461.)

SENTENCING ALLEGATIONS

129. With respect to each count of the Indictment, except Counts 38-41, with which they are charged:

- (a) LAY, SKILLING and CAUSEY were each leaders and organizers of a criminal activity that involved five or more participants and was otherwise extensive; and
- (b) LAY, SKILLING and CAUSEY each abused their positions of public and private trust and CAUSEY used special skills in a manner that significantly facilitated the commission and concealment of the offenses.

130. With respect to each count of the Indictment, except Counts 7-11,

- (a) the loss exceeded \$100 million;
- (b) the offense involved more than minimal planning
- (c) the offense involved a scheme to defraud more than 50 victims;
- (d) the offense involved sophisticated means; and
- (e) the offense was committed through mass marketing.

131. With respect to each count of the Indictment, except Counts 7-11,

- (a) the offense affected a financial institution; and
- (b) LAY, SKILLING and CAUSEY each derived more than \$1 million in gross receipts from the offense.

132. With respect to Counts 7 through 11 of the Indictment, the value of the funds exceeded \$6 million.

133. With respect to Counts 38 through 41 of the Indictment:

- (a) the gain exceeded \$60 million; and
- (b) the offense involved more than minimal planning.

Dated: Houston, Texas
July 7, 2004

A TRUE BILL


~~FORBERSON~~

JOSHUA R. HOCHBERG
Acting U. S. Attorney

ANDREW WEISSMANN
Director, ENRON TASK FORCE

By:



SEAN M. BERKOWITZ
JOHN H. HEMANN
JOHN H. HUESTON
LINDA A. LACEWELL
KATHRYN H. RUEMLER
Special Attorneys, ENRON TASK FORCE

LAUREL LOOMIS
PATRICK MURPHY
Trial Attorneys, ENRON TASK FORCE